
                                                                                                        25 FEBRUARY 2015
                                             

                                                                                        TOWN BOARD MEETING 
                                                                                        TOWN HALL, MAHOPAC, N.Y. 
 
A Regular Meeting of the Town Board of the Town of Carmel was called to order by 
Supervisor Kenneth Schmitt on the 25th day of February 2015 at 7:21 p.m. at Town 
Hall, 60 McAlpin Avenue, Mahopac, New York.  Members of the Town Board present 
by roll call were: Councilman Schneider, Councilman Lupinacci, Councilwoman 
McDonough, Councilman Lombardi and Supervisor Schmitt. 
  
The Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was observed prior to the start of official business. 
A moment of silence was held to honor those serving in the United States Armed 
Forces.   
    

MINUTES OF TOWN BOARD MEETINGS HELD ON 1/7/15 AND 1/21/15 - ACCEPT 
AS SUBMITTED BY THE TOWN CLERK   
 
On motion by Councilman Lombardi, seconded by Councilman Lupinacci, with all 
members of the Town Board present and voting “aye”, the minutes of the Town Board 
meetings held on January 7th and January 21st 2015 were accepted as submitted by the 
Town Clerk. 
 
BUDGET MODIFICATIONS - #2014-05/06 - AUTHORIZED 
 

WHEREAS the Town Comptroller has reviewed the 2014 year-to-date Budget 
Modifications/Revisions for the period ending December 31, 2014 with the Town Board, 
which are detailed and explained on the attached Budget Revisions Schedules 
identified as #2014-05 and #2014-06; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Town Board of the Town of 
Carmel hereby authorizes and ratifies the 2014 year-to-date Budget 
Modifications/Revisions for the period of ending December 31, 2014 on #2014-05 and 
#2014-06 which are attached hereto, incorporated herein and made a part hereof. 
 
Resolution    
Offered by: Councilman Schneider  
Seconded by: Councilman Lombardi  
    
Roll Call Vote YES  NO 
Jonathan Schneider  X   
John Lupinacci X   
Suzanne McDonough X   
Frank Lombardi X   
Kenneth Schmitt X   
 

 



                                          PAGE 2 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 3 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 



                                          PAGE 4 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 



                                          PAGE 5 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 6 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
ENCUMBRANCES OF 2014 FUNDS FOR EXPENDITURES IN 2015 - AUTHORIZED 
 

WHEREAS, it is recommended by the Town Comptroller’s Office that 2014 
Government Budget Funds be encumbered or reserved for the 2015 Budget 
Appropriations, based on recently approved Town Board Resolutions and/or specific 
projects in progress for various purposes. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Town Board of the Town of 
Carmel authorizes the Town Comptroller’s Office to Encumber or Reserve unexpended 
2014 Government Fund monies for expenditures in fiscal year 2015 as follows: 
 
Purpose of Encumbrance         Accounts                Maximum                   Explanation/Comments 
General Fund 
Assessor Contract Expense       100-1355-0046   13,598.00               Reassessment Contract 

Balance 12/14 
Building Special Improvements       100-1620-0045    2,970.00               Tax Receiver Office    

Improvements 
Information Technology        100-1680-0020   26,100.00  Municity 5 Software (Bal) 12/14 
Data Imaging Equipment         100-1680-0021            15,000.00               Data Imaging Equipment 
Police Equipment        100-3120-0027   13,350.00               Island Tech–Computers/Mounts 

for vehicles 
Recreation Bldg. Special Repairs       100-7020-0045    18,500.00              Balance Insurance Claim 
 
Total General Fund Encumbrances                 $89,518.00 
 
Highway Fund        500-5130-0041    $100,000.00               Machinery/Equipment 

Capital Expense 
Special Districts 
Mahopac Falls Fire Dept.       301-3410-0045     $ 26,000.00             Dry Hydrant Installation                                            

         Estimate 
 
Resolution    
Offered by: Councilman Lombardi  
Seconded by: Councilman Lupinacci  
    
Roll Call Vote YES  NO 
Jonathan Schneider  X   
John Lupinacci X   
Suzanne McDonough X   
Frank Lombardi X   
Kenneth Schmitt X   
 
CARMEL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICTS #1, #2 AND #3 - ENTRY INTO 
CONTRACTS WITH PENFLEX INC. FOR SERVICE AWARD PROGRAM 
ADMINISTRATION - AUTHORIZED 
 

RESOLVED that the Town Board of the Town of Carmel, acting as the 
commissioners of Carmel Fire Protection Districts #1, #2 and #3, hereby authorizes 
entry into Service Award Program Service Agreements with Penflex Inc., of Latham, NY 
for administration services for the Fire Protection District Service Award Programs for 
2015 as contained within the proposal of September 17, 2014 which is attached hereto 
and made a part hereof, at estimated costs of $5,800.00 for Fire Protection District #1; 
$6,600.00 for Fire Protection District #2 and $5,300.00 for Fire Protection District #3; 
and  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Town Supervisor Kenneth Schmitt is hereby 
authorized to sign said agreements on behalf of the Town of Carmel. 

 
Resolution    
Offered by: Councilman Schneider  
Seconded by: Councilman Lupinacci  
  



                                          PAGE 7 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
    
Roll Call Vote YES  NO 
Jonathan Schneider  X   
John Lupinacci X   
Suzanne McDonough X   
Frank Lombardi X   
Kenneth Schmitt X   

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 



                                          PAGE 8 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 9 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
SUPERINTENDENT OF HIGHWAYS MICHAEL SIMONE - ATTENDANCE AT 
CONFERENCE AUTHORIZED - 3/3/15 TO 3/4/15 
 

RESOLVED that the Town Board of the Town of Carmel hereby authorizes 
Superintendent of Highways Michael Simone to attend the 2015 Grassroots Advocacy 
Campaign for Local Roads & Bridges on March 3-4, 2015 in Albany, NY; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the cost of registration and other necessary 
expenses be advanced or reimbursed by the Town Comptroller’s Office upon audit and 
approval. 
 
Resolution    
Offered by: Councilwoman McDonough  
Seconded by: Councilman Lombardi  
    
Roll Call Vote YES  NO 
Jonathan Schneider  X   
John Lupinacci X   
Suzanne McDonough X   
Frank Lombardi X   
Kenneth Schmitt X   
 
LAKE MAHOPAC PARK DISTRICT MANAGEMENT PLAN – AMENDED 
 

RESOLVED that the Town Board of the Town of Carmel, acting as 
Commissioners of the Lake Mahopac Park District, hereby amend the Management 
Plan for the Lake Mahopac Park District, said amended Management Plan to be in form 
as attached hereto and incorporated herein. 
 
Resolution    
Offered by: Councilman Schneider  
Seconded by: Councilman Lombardi  
    
Roll Call Vote YES  NO 
Jonathan Schneider  X   
John Lupinacci X   
Suzanne McDonough X   
Frank Lombardi X   
Kenneth Schmitt X   

 



                                          PAGE 10 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 

 
Supervisor Schmitt read from the amended Management Plan and noted that the 
change was made at the request of the Lake Mahopac Park District Advisory Board. 
 
LAKE MAHOPAC PARK DISTRICT ADVISORY BOARD APPOINTMENTS MADE -  
EDWARD BARNETT, MARTY GREENBERG, JAY CRAWFORD, CHARLES 
LANGLITZ, AND JAMES MAXWELL - COMMENCING RETROACTIVE TO 1/1/15 
AND EXPIRING 12/31/15 
 

RESOLVED that the Town Board of the Town of Carmel hereby appoints the 
following residents to the Town of Carmel Lake Mahopac Park District Advisory Board 
for a term commencing retroactive to January 1, 2015 and expiring December 31, 2015: 

 
Edward Barnett 

Marty Greenberg 
Jay Crawford 

Charles Langlitz 
James Maxwell 

 
Resolution    
Offered by: Councilman Lombardi  
Seconded by: Councilwoman McDonough  
    
Roll Call Vote YES  NO 
Jonathan Schneider  X   
John Lupinacci X   
Suzanne McDonough X   
Frank Lombardi X   
Kenneth Schmitt X   
 
LAKE MAHOPAC PARK DISTRICT SUBCOMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS MADE -  
WILLIAM FRUMKIN, JOSEPH MASSARO, SHIELA MARGOLIS, JOHN MAXWELL, 
BERT MELCHNER, MARK ROBERTSON, AND WILLIAM SPAIN - COMMENCING 
2/25/15 AND EXPIRING 12/31/15 
 

RESOLVED that the Town Board of the Town of Carmel hereby appoints the 
following residents to the Town of Carmel Lake Mahopac Park District Subcommittee 
for a term commencing immediately and expiring December 31, 2015: 

 
 



                                          PAGE 11 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 

William Frumkin  
Joseph Massaro 
Shiela Margolis 
John Maxwell 
Bert Melchner 

Mark Robertson 
William Spain 

 
Resolution    
Offered by: Councilman Lupinacci  
Seconded by: Councilwoman McDonough  
    
Roll Call Vote YES  NO 
Jonathan Schneider  X   
John Lupinacci X   
Suzanne McDonough X   
Frank Lombardi X   
Kenneth Schmitt X   
 
Supervisor Schmitt recognized the appointed members of the Lake Mahopac Park 
District Advisory Board and Sub-Committee for their service to the community. 
 

DONATION OF IMPROVEMENTS AT BALDWIN MEADOWS PARK ACCEPTED 
AND AUTHORIZED - JENNA NOLAN MEMORIAL  
 

RESOLVED that the Town Board of the Town of Carmel hereby accepts the 
donation of materials and services contemplated for the Jenna Nolan Memorial located 
at Baldwin Meadows Park, as outlined and detailed in the memorandum of Director of 
Recreation and Parks, James R. Gilchrist, dated February 10, 2015; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED the improvements contemplated and detailed 
therein are hereby authorized by the Town Board to be performed; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that upon presentation of insurance certificates in 
form acceptable to Town Counsel from all contractors involved in the aforesaid 
improvements, said improvements may be immediately commenced. 
 
Resolution    
Offered by: Councilwoman McDonough  
Seconded by: Councilman Schneider  
    
Roll Call Vote YES  NO 
Jonathan Schneider  X   
John Lupinacci X   
Suzanne McDonough X   
Frank Lombardi X   
Kenneth Schmitt X   
 
RE-VALUATION CONTRACT WITH VISION GOVERNMENT SOLUTIONS - 
AMENDMENT #1 AUTHORIZED 
  

RESOLVED, that the Town Board of the Town of Carmel hereby approves and 
authorizes amendment #1 to the Contract with Vision Government Solutions for Real 
Property Assessment Located within the Corporate Limits of the Town of Carmel, New 
York in form as attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Town Supervisor Kenneth Schmitt is hereby 
authorized to execute the aforesaid agreement on behalf of the Town of Carmel. 

 
Resolution    
Offered by: Councilman Schneider  
Seconded by: Councilman Lombardi  



                                          PAGE 12 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 

   

Roll Call Vote YES  NO 
Jonathan Schneider  X   
John Lupinacci X   
Suzanne McDonough X   
Frank Lombardi X   
Kenneth Schmitt X   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 13 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 
 

 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS - AGENDA ITEMS  
 
Michael Barile, in regard to the Contract with Vision Government Solutions for Real 
Property Assessment, expressed his extreme dissatisfaction that the largest property 
owner in the Town of Carmel, the City of New York, is not included in the revaluation 
project. 
 
Councilman Schneider explained that he has addressed the issue with a representative 
from the New York State Office of Real Property Tax Services and that the Town is in 
the process of researching the different options to remedy this. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 14 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 
Mr. Barile commented on the underassessment of property owned by the City of New 
York.  He pointed out that property purchased by the City of New York fourteen years 
ago for $5.6 million has been assessed at a full market value of $87,859.00 for the last 
thirteen years.  Mr. Barile suggested that if NYC paid their fair share of taxes, a 
decrease in taxes over the last ten years would be had by all. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS - OPEN FORUM 
 
Mr. Barile cited the rebate check that he received from New York State resulting from 
the Mahopac Central School District’s compliance with the 2% property tax cap and 
spoke regarding the potential for additional savings for homeowners attributable to the 
program.  Mr. Barile then inquired about the recent arbitration hearings held in 
connection with the Town of Carmel PBA contract negotiations. 
 
Councilman Lupinacci reported on the hearings and the binding arbitration process.  He 
stated that the Town presented an excellent case, however it was an expensive 
endeavor that is now in the hands of the independent arbitrator. Councilman Lupinacci 
expressed his concern that this ruling in arbitration could hinder the Town’s ability to 
achieve the property tax cap in the future.  Discussion ensued. 
 
Supervisor Schmitt agreed that the City of New York is not paying enough in taxes and 
conveyed his frustration that the residents in the hamlet of Carmel must pay up to 
$500,000.00 annually for their water which is obtained from NYC owned Lake Gleneida. 
 
Putnam County Legislator Carl Albano pointed out that not only do Hamlet of Carmel 
residents pay for their water from Lake Gleneida, for every ten gallons, eight or nine 
gallons are returned back at a better standard to the City of New York though a sewer 
plant.  Legislator Albano suggested that there should be a different tax structure for a 
natural body of water. 
 
Joe Tock commended Michael Simone, Highway Superintendent and his staff for their 
outstanding efforts cleaning the roadways throughout the recent snowstorms. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING HELD - PROPOSED LOCAL LAW AMENDING THE CODE OF 
THE TOWN OF CARMEL, CHAPTER 156 THEREOF, ENTITLED "ZONING” 
 
Supervisor Schmitt thanked the public for their attendance at the Public Hearing.  He 
encouraged comments and emphasized that they will be taken under consideration by 
the Town Board.  Supervisor Schmitt noted that the proposed Local Law is subject to 
change and that most likely, the Public Hearing will not be closed tonight.  Written 
submissions to the Town Board in connection with the matter will be accepted.  He 
stated that if substantive changes are made to the proposed Local Law, another Public 
Hearing will be held.   
 
Councilman Lupinacci added that in the past, input from the public helped the Town 
Board to modify legislation, citing the Local Law enacted three years ago with regard to 
blasting in the Town of Carmel. He further noted that legislation to establish and impose 
restrictions upon the installation and operation of portable bathrooms remains open 
because of comments made by the public. Councilman Lupinacci apologized if anyone 
felt slighted for not being included in the drafting of the proposed Local Law and 
stressed the need for future dialog. 
 
Supervisor Schmitt spoke regarding his open door policy. He added that the Town 
Board is business friendly and emphasized that communication between the Town 
Board and the community must be improved.   
 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 15 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 
With no one present in objection, reading of the following Notice of Public Hearing as 
published in the Town’s official newspapers was waived.  Copies of the notice were 
made available to the public. 

  

 
 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 16 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 17 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 

 
 
With no one objecting to the public notice, Supervisor Schmitt opened the Public 
Hearing for public comment at 8:06 p.m.  Approximately one hundred and twenty five 
(125) people were in attendance. 
 
 



                                          PAGE 18 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 
Michael Barile, forty-three year member of the Chamber of Commerce, spoke regarding 
the need for greater participation from the community at Town Board meetings and 
called upon local businesses to come forward with ideas that will benefit the Town.  He 
commented that the appearance of Mahopac has improved over the last five years to 
which he credited the Town Board as well as the former Zoning Code Compliance 
Committee which he suggested should be revived. Mr. Barile stated that he believed 
that the Public Hearing is being held to improve the appearance of Route 6 and help 
bring code violators into compliance.   
 
Ken Lauro commented that a property owner along Route 6 was permitted to mine 
stone and gravel for four years, leaving a large unsightly crater while another property 
owner will be in violation for putting up a sandwich board sign.  He commented that 
while a condemned strip mall on Route 6 has been allowed to remain vacant and 
unattractive for over six years, he has received violations for his signs.  Mr. Lauro 
expressed his frustration with purported selective enforcement of the Town Code as 
well as with the Town of Carmel’s part-time codes enforcement officer.  He argued 
against prohibiting neon signs.  Mr. Lauro commented that the Town Board should 
meet with a committee of Chamber of Commerce members to examine the proposed 
Local Law line by line to develop compromise legislation.  Mr. Lauro pointed out that the 
business owners want the Town to look attractive, too. 
 
Councilman Schneider stated that eight years ago he served on the board of the 
Chamber of Commerce as the political liaison and questioned if there was currently 
anyone serving in this capacity. He agreed that there has been a lack of communication 
between the Town Board and the business community.    
 
Mr. Lauro commented that local businesses are hurting and cautioned that if a business 
fails, the tax burden will go on to the homeowners.  He concluded that with a 20 percent 
vacancy along Route 6 in Mahopac, legislation that will allow tasteful signs is 
necessary. 
 
Patrick O’Malley, resident and chairman of the Northern Westchester-Putnam St. 
Patrick’s Day Parade committee, expressed the committee’s concern with and 
disapproval of the proposed Local Law.  In regard to temporary promotional banners, 
he pointed out that most of the temporary banners put up in the Town are for events run 
by non-profit organizations and the proposed increase to the fee charged in connection 
with installing the banners would be excessive.  Regarding the changes governing 
business signage to give the Town a small town New England feel, Mr. O’Malley 
commented that Carmel is no longer a sleepy little town. He stated that if the Town 
Board is to meaningfully improve the direction that Carmel’s growth takes, they must 
acknowledge the Town for what it truly is and start working with the business 
community and the community at large to best determine what is needed going forward.  
He concluded that restrictive regulations for business signage benefit no one and 
requested that the Town Board not adopt the proposed legislation.  
 
Matt Bevilacqua, former president of the Chamber of Commerce commented on the 
need for industry in the Town of Carmel.  He expressed his concern that restrictive 
legislation will discourage new businesses and spoke regarding the need for 
compromise.  
 
Putnam County Legislator Carl Albano, forty-year Chamber of Commerce member and 
business owner on Route 6 in Mahopac, commented that the Town Board has good 
intentions with regard to improving the aesthesis of Carmel.  However, the Local Law 
as proposed will hurt businesses.  He suggested before changes are considered, an 
actual plan and conceptual vision for the Town should be developed. Legislator Albano 
recommended pursuing creative ideas to encourage people to comply with the plan 
when implemented and suggested as an example that if a business owner is replacing 
a sign that meets with the direction the Town is pursuing, their fee should be waived or 
reduced. 
 



                                          PAGE 19 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 
Mike Bucci, the Greater Mahopac-Carmel Chamber of Commerce executive director, 
stated for interested members of the community that comments in connection with the 
proposed legislation may be emailed to him at mike@mahopaccarmelchamber.com 
and he will forward the comments to the Town Board for consideration. Mr. Bucci stated 
that he was prepared to discuss the proposed Local Law line by line and offer differing 
opinions on a good deal of what was brought forth, such as regulations proposed in 
connection with backlit signs and neon signs, but will not at this time because of the 
Town Board’s commitment to continue the Public Hearing.  He commented that now, at 
the end of a recession, is not the time to adopt new regulations without a plan.   
 
Mr. Bucci praised the Town Board for commencing a dialog and encouraged members 
of the business community to get involved.  He stated that the Chamber of Commerce 
will put together another legislative committee to provide input to the Town Board.  Mr. 
Bucci spoke regarding the value of signage to local businesses.   
 
Jennifer Maher, chairwoman, the Putnam County Chambers of Commerce, former 
chairwoman of the Greater Mahopac-Carmel Chamber of Commerce and business 
owner along Route 6 in Mahopac, paraphrased from an article she wrote that appeared 
in the Putnam County Courier.  She commented that the proposed changes in 
connection with signs threatens efforts to improve the local economy and may hamper 
the conducting of business in the area.   Ms. Maher commented that in theory, a sign 
ordinance is a good idea.  However, it should be done in conjunction with a larger vision 
and plan for the commerce districts.  Ms. Maher went on to encourage the Town Board 
to pursue CFA funding for the business community. 

Bill Nulk, president of the Putnam County Chambers of Commerce stated that sign 
ordinances in other towns have caused consternation.  He further stated that he was 
happy for the open conversation with the Town Board and expressed his hope for a 
plan that is amenable to all.  Mr. Nulk commented that the tone of the proposed Local 
Law seems negative.  He cited the provision for muted colors and pointed out that the 
purpose of a sign is to attract attention. Mr. Nulk commented that some of the 
terminology in the proposed Local Law is contrary to modern technology and noted that 
the use of LED lighting has bypassed the use of some backlit signage. He asked the 
Town Board to seriously consider the limitation of allowing only 10% of window space in 
a building as being available for signage. 

Henry Boyd, Chairperson of the Carmel/Kent Chamber of Commerce, commented that 
he was not in favor of certain regulations contained in the proposed legislation.  He 
stated that he would like to see the Town Board table the matter and meet with the 
business people in the community to negotiate a better plan. 
 
Dave Nichols stated that although he does not have a business in the Town, he has 
many tenants who do and they are all either angry or worried.  He stated that he 
disagreed with most of the proposed legislation.  He expressed support for sandwich 
boards and banners.  Mr. Nichols commented that most of the commercial property in 
the Town will be in violation of the Town Code should this legislation be adopted, if they 
are not already.  He questioned if every time a gas station changes the price of their 
gas, will they be required to obtain a new sign permit. Mr. Nichols expressed his 
frustration with tax increases and suggested that the Town Board cut spending to 
reduce them. He expressed his frustration with regard to being charged a fee in 
connection with fire inspections and noted that Carmel is the only town that he knows of 
that does. 
 
Ms. Maher expressed frustration about the proposed fee increase in connection with 
banner permits from $100.00 to $1,500.00, citing the impact on not-for-profit 
organizations. 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 20 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 

Councilman Schneider pointed out that the proposed $1,500.00 charge is just under the 
actual cost to the Town of Carmel for erecting a banner. 

Ms. Maher suggested raising the fee in increments. 

Councilman Schneider advocated designating areas on the sides of certain roads 
where there are natural intersections for posting the banners thus alleviating the 
necessity to charge $1,500.00 to install it across a road.   

Ms. Maher agreed that the Town should cover their costs.  However, she stated that the 
fee should not increase from $100.00 to $1,500.00 without dialog. Ms. Maher 
suggested that the Police Department and Highway Department staff should be 
required to volunteer three days a year to improve the Town. 
 
Jack Tesler, Mahopac resident and father of Jen and Jerry’s Deli in Carmel’s owner, 
stated that in the fifty-year time span that he and his family have lived in Putnam 
County, the Town has grown and expanded uniformly. Mr. Tesler stated that the 
increase in businesses and schools necessitate keeping people well informed and that 
among the things used to disseminate information to the community are signs.  He 
stated that the reduction or elimination of these signs would be very detrimental, as 
would the prohibition or the placement of new ones.  Mr. Tesler concluded that the 
removal or limiting of signs would negatively impact the growth of the area, put a 
greater tax burden on existing businesses and homeowners, and be contrary to the 
desire to attract people. 
 
Joe Tock, twenty-seven year Town resident, twenty-four year business owner and 
twenty-two year member of the Chamber of Commerce stated that the best outcome 
from this meeting would be the creation of a committee that will meet with several 
members of the Town Board to discuss what has been presented.  He stated that 
initially he was going to address seven or eight areas of the proposed Local Law, 
however, will highlight only one or two if the Town Board is open to having a meaningful 
dialog as to how this legislation affects current businesses and future businesses.  Mr. 
Tock asked if the proposed Local Law addresses preexisting signs.   
 
Gregory Folchetti, Legal Counsel replied, yes. 
 
Mr. Tock asked the Town Board to consider that since the legislation applies to 
preexisting signs, that many business owners have invested in renovating their 
buildings and purchasing signs.  Mr. Tock then went on to comment in opposition of the 
proposed section in the legislation that requires all colors shall be muted in nature 
(earth tones) and not brilliant, pointing out that the Ford logo is blue, the Dunkin Donuts 
logo is pink and orange, the Sunoco logo is bright blue and yellow, and the Law Offices 
of Joseph J. Tock logo is bright green.  He further commented that the purpose of a 
sign is to attract attention.   
 
Mr. Tock emphasized the need for communication.  He stated with regard to the Town 
Board’s desire to maintain a New England feel for Carmel, that Mahopac is not 
Ridgefield where the town hub is walkable.  Carmel does not have people walking to 
our businesses and therefore depend on appropriate signage.  Mr. Tock suggested that 
the Town Board create a comprehensive plan and not cherry pick items to address.  He 
then spoke against the proposed increase to $1,500.00 for banner permits citing the 
impact on the volunteers of the not-for-profit organizations.   
 
Councilman Schneider stated that the Town Board is not only addressing the fee for 
banners.  Effective January 1, 2016 it is the intention of the Town Board to charge a fee 
to cover the cost of parades or will be establishing routes and structured procedures to 
reduce costs.  They will be evaluating every cost associated with the Town to make it 
run more efficiently.   
 
 



                                          PAGE 21 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 
Mr. Tock commented that if not-for-profit organizations are charged $1,500.00 to erect 
a banner, then they will no longer host their events here and it would tear the fabric of 
the community. 
 
Ken Lauro commented that if the Town Board chooses to move forward with the 
proposed legislation, the landscape of Route 6 would change, as pickup trucks with 
billboards on them would line the road in lieu of signage. 
 
Kevin Bailey, former president of the Carmel-Mahopac Chamber of Commerce, 
thanked the Town Board for agreeing to hold the Public Hearing open.  He pointed out 
that the Chamber had provided input to the Town in connection with legislation adopted 
twenty years ago.  He further pointed out that the last time that the Chamber had a 
liaison with the Town was about seven years ago.   
 
Mr. Bailey commented that many storeowners in the Town are also homeowners and 
therefore, are double taxed.  He commented that there should be no fees associated 
with signs, suggesting it should not be a revenue source for the Town.  Mr. Bailey 
commented that the recession is not over for small businesses and that small 
businesses are the lifeblood of the community. 
 
Richard D'Andrea, owner of Park Ford on Route 6, commented that the Town Board 
should be doing everything in their power to be business friendly.  He commented that 
anything in the proposed legislation that is not business friendly should be addressed 
such as the provision regulating corporate logos.  
 
Mr. D'Andrea commented on the need for infrastructure improvements throughout the 
Town to attract new businesses that will generate tax revenue and lessen the burden 
on residents.  Mr. D’Andrea stated that in 2014, he collected $1,317,000 in State sales 
tax, of which 60% went to Putnam County.   
 
Mr. D'Andrea commented that everyone wants this Town to look great.  However, it 
starts with a major plan.  He suggested offering tax incentives to reface buildings and 
establishing a review board.   
 
Councilman Lombardi pointed out that none of the sales tax paid to Putnam County is 
conveyed to the Town of Carmel. He appealed to the Chamber of Commerce to assist 
the Town Board in their continued efforts to lobby Putnam County to share their sales 
tax revenue with the Town. 
 
Councilman Lupinacci spoke regarding the challenges associated with achieving New 
York State’s property tax cap and explained how even a small percentage of Carmel’s 
portion of Putnam County’s sales tax revenue would benefit the Town. 
 
Councilman Schneider expressed his concern that Putnam County has approached 
New York State to extend one of the highest sales tax rates.  He suggested that if 
Putnam County had a comparable sales tax rate to Duchess County, Westchester 
County, Rockland County and Fairfield County, maybe more businesses would be 
attracted to the County as we would not be 2% higher for the exact same products. 
 
Mike Bucci indicated that he was unaware of the sales tax issue and asked how the 
business community can be of support to the Town Board. 
 
Larry Zacks, fifty-year Mahopac resident and local realtor, commended the ideas 
brought forward by the business community as well as the cooperation of the Town 
Board.  Mr. Zacks commented that a plan for the future of the Town needs to be 
adopted that addresses issues such as the appearance of Route 6, sales tax revenue 
sharing, water, sewer, and parking. He commented that a committee of local business 
owners should be formed to help address such issues.  
 
 



                                          PAGE 22 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
 
(Cont.) 
 
G. Trugia, resident, property and business owner in the Town of Carmel, spoke 
regarding signage issues at Lupi Plaza. He commented that he has been targeted with 
regard to code enforcement and that he has received mixed messages from the Town 
with regard to his signs.   Mr. Truglia spoke against regulating the appearance of signs, 
commenting that a sign should reflect a business’s personal identity and that they are 
needed to attract business. He pointed out that when he parked his truck with a sign on 
it, on the street, customers came in.  He urged the Town Board to support the small 
business community. 
 
William Lefurgy, Route 6 property owner, commented that he has recently installed a 
new sign that would need to be taken down and replaced, because it does not comply 
with the proposed legislation.  Mr. Lefurgy commented against regulating the colors of 
signs and suggested that the Town Board address other problems before signage. 
 
Charlie Melchner acknowledged the Town Board for their hard work.  Mr. Melchner 
commented that Michael Carnazza, Director of Codes Enforcement/Building Inspector 
and Denis Marousek, Property Compliance Officer are good men and urged the Town 
Board to do what they can to help them do their job properly. 

Pat Maffucci, owner of the Route 6 Bistrant in Mahopac, commented that because she 
does not live in the Town, she relies on signage to identify places where she would like 
to shop along Route 6.  Ms. Maffucci commented that signs should be unique and 
identifying. She further commented that certain regulations in the proposed Local Law 
are subjective and would be enforced arbitrarily, citing the section of the legislation that 
states that the signs should not be obnoxious, as well as the section that states that the 
sign should not include any words, pictures, or logos that are considered inappropriate. 
Ms. Maffucci questioned who would be making that determination and suggested that 
the verbiage be amended.    

Ruth Ayala-Quezada, owner of Mahopac Taxi and Carmel Taxi, Greater Mahopac-
Carmel Chamber of Commerce, Carmel/Kent Chamber of Commerce and Putnam 
County Chambers of Commerce board member, as well as twenty-three year Town 
resident, stated that when she was growing up, there were numerous vacancies in the 
area shopping centers.  She commented on how the business community has improved 
greatly and expressed her concerns that the proposed changes in connection with 
signage may hinder the improved business community.  

Maria Stiefeld, owner of Salon Amore in Mahopac, commented that it is a privilege and 
honor to own a business in this Town.  Ms. Stiefeld stated that although she has 
advertised in every newspaper in this Town, nothing generates more revenue than the 
A-frame sign that they post outside the salon.  She commented in opposition of the 
proposed section in the legislation that requires all colors shall be muted in nature. 

Thom Ianniccari, insurance broker in the Town of Carmel and Greater Mahopac-Carmel 
Chamber of Commerce treasurer, commented that finally the community has come 
together. Mr. Ianniccari commented that in neighboring Yorktown, when they had a 
signage issue, the chamber there made suggestions and the Town Board worked with 
them to develop a new code.  He commented that the best thing to come out of this 
meeting tonight would be the commitment to develop an updated master plan.  Mr. 
Ianniccari indicated that he is associated with the Putnam County Chambers of 
Commerce and that he will be bringing forward to them several issues brought forth at 
this meeting including the matter of sales tax revenue sharing.   

Mr. Ianniccari requested that the Town Board revisit the criteria for signs in the 
proposed Local Law noting that a standard 5’ by 3’ sign with a 10% logo equates to 
approximately 6’’ by 3’’ of signage.  The signage on a typical 8’ by 4’ storefront plate 
glass would be less than 10” by 5”.   

 



                                          PAGE 23 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 

Bobby Cozi, owner of CoZi’s Barbershop on Routed 6N in Mahopac, commented that 
the palette of colors proposed in the Local Law will not allow for barber colors.  Mr. Cozi 
commented that his sign is rooted in his profession and noted that in a Town without 
foot traffic, a business has five seconds to show who they are. 

Wendy Wulkan, co-owner of South Side Inn in Mahopac as well as the Bull & Barrel 
Brew Pub in Brewster, commented that she has been in the community for fifteen years 
and has had challenges in the past in connection with her signs.  She commented that 
it forces your hand to be creative and when you are forced to be creative, you do things 
like put signs in the back of pick-up trucks to get exposure.  She commented that if the 
Town Board is looking for a clean and cohesive look, taking away a business’s ability to 
identify who they and capture new business is not the way to go about it.  Ms. Wulkan 
expressed her frustration with signage issues in connection with her business in 
Brewster pointing out that she is one of the largest buildings in that town, yet people still 
drive by it because of signage limitations.  

Vincent D'Ambroso, chairman of the board of directors of the Greater Mahopac-Carmel 
Chamber of Commerce thanked the Town Board for the open dialog.  Mr. D'Ambroso 
compared the Town Board’s effort to adopt the proposed Local Law to New York 
State’s Common Core education standards.  He commented that one size does not fit 
all and that every business wants to express themselves differently. 

Artie Divila, owner of Bryant Pond Laundry on Secor Road since 2005 commented that 
his A-frame sign brings many customers into his store.  He stated that many residents 
have told him that until they saw his sign, they were not aware of the existence of his 
store.  Mr. Divila spoke regarding the importance of branding to businesses and 
concluded that if all colors are required to be the same, it would make it difficult for 
businesses to differentiate their branding.  

Donna Massaro, forty-two year resident of the Town and five year business owner of 
the Freight House Café in Mahopac, commented that she is proud to be a part of the 
community and expressed her appreciation to the Town Board for listening to the 
concerns of the business owners. 

Grace Pietrosanti, owner of Sacred Heart Catholic Goods on Route 6 commented that 
approximately 17,000 vehicles pass by her storefront daily and bring with it the potential 
to keep her business active and visible.  She asked the Town Board to consider the 
small businesses because she would hate to see future generations of children not 
having the opportunity to visit a small store.   

Mark Anthony, forty-year Town of Carmel resident, co-owner of South Side Inn in 
Mahopac, as well as owner of O’Grady’s Public House in Yorktown, commented that he 
had worked with the Town Board in Yorktown and found them to be very business 
friendly and accommodating when he changed his sign which had a different look from 
the rest of the buildings. Mr. Anthony commented that he found the proposed Local Law 
off-putting and inquired who drafted the proposed legislation. 

Supervisor Schmitt stated that the proposed Local Law was drafted with input from the 
Town Board, the Director of Codes Enforcement/Building Inspector and Town Counsel, 
and includes sections replicated from other municipalities. 

Mr. Anthony commented that the tone of the proposed Local Law seemed harsh. 
However, it may have been a good thing because it prompted the business community 
to attend this meeting.  He commented that in Brewster, there is an example of a muted 
colored sign on Route 22.  Because the muted colors appear white on white, the name 
of the restaurant on the sign cannot be read and therefore does not promote the 
establishment effectively.  Mr. Anthony thanked the Town Board for the open dialog. 

 



                                          PAGE 24 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 

Alan Bates, Town of Carmel resident and owner of the Iguana Wanna Car Wash for five 
years, commented that his business identity is in his signs and the colors on them are 
necessary.  Mr. Bates addressed the issue of freedom of speech and commented that 
the Town Board cannot dictate what goes on a sign.  He also cautioned the Town 
Board to consider traffic safety, noting that if signs are not backlit and not visible, it may 
result in motorists stopping short to read them which could result in accidents.  Mr. 
Bates suggested that the Town Board should be focusing their efforts on revitalizing the 
shopping centers in Carmel. 

Marc Stiefeld, co-owner of Salon Amore, confirmed that no study was conducted to 
determine the necessity of this legislation and asked how many complaints were 
received by the Town Board with regard to sandwich board signs to prompt the 
proposed Local Law. 

Councilman Schneider, Councilwoman McDonough and Supervisor Schmitt indicated 
that they have received many.  

Mr. Stiefeld asked from whom. 

Councilman Schneider stated that the complaints were received from business owners, 
as well as longtime and new Town of Carmel residents.   

Mr. Lauro inquired about the percentage of complaints in comparison to the population 
of the Town of Carmel. 

Councilman Schneider indicated that it may be close to 1%. 

Mr. Stiefeld asked if the Town Board obtained a legal opinion as to whether the 
proposed amendments are constitutional.   

Mr. Folchetti replied, absolutely and cited the time, place and manner restrictions on 
speech.   

Mr. Stiefeld verified the seminal court case that Mr. Folchetti was referencing, “Ward v. 
Rock Against Racism” and commented that this case, along with “Central Hudson Gas 
& Electric Corp. v. Public Service Commission” stand for the proposition that the issue 
can be regulated if there is a significant government interest in it.  He questioned what 
the significant government interest is in this matter.  Mr. Stiefeld stated that the Town 
Board’s indication that they want Carmel to have a New England style appearance is 
not a significant interest and extends well beyond what the law allows. He asked what 
the Town Board is going to do to address those constitutional issues because he does 
not see anything that allows them to take the measures that they are proposing with 
what they have done today. 

Mr. Folchetti pointed out that the Town Board has not taken any action today.  He 
explained that the time, place and manner restrictions are permitted under strict 
scrutiny tests under challenge and agreed that it would have to be a compelling 
governmental interest. When the Town Board considers adopting the law, it can make 
the determination as to what governmental interest it is compelling or interest(s) that 
they are looking to achieve and that will be the basis for any challenge. 

Mr. Stiefeld added that the referenced case also requires that the Town take into 
consideration three other things: whether or not it is justified with reference to the 
content of the signs, whether the amendments are narrowly tailored to serve a 
significant government interest, and whether they leave open and ample channels for 
communication.  He commented that if the Town is taking away someone’s sandwich 
board that they paid $100.00 for and brings in business, the only other ample channel 
for communication left would be to advertise in local newspapers which is cost 
prohibitive. 



                                          PAGE 25 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 

Mr. Folchetti pointed out that sandwich board signs are already prohibited. The 
proposed Local Law further expands the prohibition so that they are not in vehicles, 
generally.  If there are no sandwich boards, businesses are not restricted to print media 
for advertising.  There are many other permitted signs that they may utilize to achieve 
the same ends. 

Tim Conlin, owner of TC Graphics commented that as a sign maker, his business is 
branding and creating a unique look for every individual.  He commented that towns 
should never be involved in the appearance of a sign.  It should only matter that it is UL 
Listed, hung correctly and safe. 

Councilman Lupinacci stated that the message has been heard.  He stated that the 
Public Hearing would be closed at this time and no action will be taken because he 
added, the Town Board needs to start from scratch.   

Councilman Schneider pointed out that the first half of the proposed Local Law contains 
regulations that need to be adopted.    

Councilman Lupinacci stated that there are certain pieces of the legislation that do not 
relate to signs that need to be addressed and sent to the Planning Board.  Those 
regulations will be parceled out and a new Public Hearing will be noticed and held. 
 
With no one else present wishing to be heard on the subject of the Public Hearing, on 
motion by Councilman Lupinacci, seconded by Councilman Lombardi, with all members 
of the Town Board present and in agreement, the Public Hearing was closed at 10:16 
p.m.  Councilman Lombardi excused himself from the meeting and a recess was held.  
The meeting reconvened at 10:33 p.m.   
 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD - PROPOSED LOCAL LAW AMENDING THE CODE OF 
THE TOWN OF CARMEL, CHAPTER 96 THEREOF, ENTITLED "ILLEGAL 
DUMPING" 
 
With no one present in objection, reading of the following Notice of Public Hearing as 
published in the Town’s official newspapers was waived.  Copies of the notice were 
made available to the public. 
 

   



                                          PAGE 26 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 
With no one objecting to the public notice, Supervisor Schmitt opened the Public 
Hearing for public comment at 10:33 p.m.  Four (4) people were in attendance. 
 
Tracy DeMarco six-year Mahopac resident, expressed her opposition to the section in 
the proposed Local Law that states that all dumpsters and trash receptacles shall be 
screened with a minimum six-foot-tall living fence, of such density that the dumpster 
cannot be seen through the living fence or with a minimum six-foot-tall wall, made of 
brick, stone, or other masonry.  She commented that having to reach six feet to empty 
garbage into an enclosure or prying open frozen enclosure doors would be difficult for 
her as well as her elderly and disabled neighbors.  Ms. DeMarco further commented 
that a six-foot enclosure would be an eyesore in addition to being a safety hazard, as it 
would block her visibility when backing her car out of her driveway. 
 
Councilwoman McDonough asked Ms. DeMarco if she lived in a private home. 
 
Ms. DeMarco indicated that she lived in a multi-family building on East Lake Boulevard. 
She commented that in the past, the building had a dumpster and that currently there 
are six trashcans on the property under an evergreen tree.  Ms. DeMarco commented 
that there is no issue with garbage overflow and she maintains the cleanliness of the 
trashcans. 
 
Supervisor Schmitt inquired who owned the property. 
 
Ms. DeMarco stated that Dave Nichols is the property owner. 
 
Supervisor Schmitt pointed out that complying with the Town Code would be the 
responsibility of the property owner.   
 
Councilman Lupinacci asked Ms. DeMarco if there was a problem when there was a 
dumpster on the property. 
 
Ms. DeMarco commented that it was unsightly.  She added that the trashcans are very 
clean and neat. 
 
Mr. Carnazza clarified that the screening may be a minimum six-foot-tall living fence or 
a minimum six-foot-tall wall, made of brick, stone, or other masonry.  It does not have to 
be both and it does not have to be enclosed on all sides.  Mr. Carnazza explained that 
the intent is so that the trash reciprocals are buffered from the road.   
 
Dave Nichols stated that he has had dumpsters removed from multiple properties and 
replaced with trashcans so that he would not be required to build enclosures.  
 
Mr. Carnazza reiterated that building an enclosure is not necessarily required. The 
screening can be evergreens.  He added that if the trash reciprocals cannot be seen 
from the road they do not have to be screened. 
 
Mr. Nichols inquired if the proposed Local Law would require the screening of 
freestanding trashcans. 
 
Mr. Carnazza replied, yes.   
 
Councilwoman McDonough suggested that the Town Board postpone action in 
connection with the proposed Local Law  
 
Mr. Nichols questioned if every house would be subject to the provisions of the 
proposed legislation. 
 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 27 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
(Cont.) 
 
Mr. Carnazza stated that the way the proposed Local Law has been drafted, it applies 
to everyone. 
 
Mr. Nichols spoke against town-wide garbage collection, citing its expense to property 
owners. 
 
Councilman Lupinacci acknowledged that there may be a few residents whose garbage 
collection costs have increased.  However, stated that the vast majority of residents 
benefit from it. 
 
Mr. Nichols once again questioned if the legislation applies to every residence that has 
a garbage can. 
 
Mr. Carnazza stated that if the trash reciprocals are not being brought down from the 
road to their house where they would be concealed, yes.  If the trash reciprocal is being 
kept adjacent to the road, it must be screened. 
  
Aileen Orta, stated that she is a small business owner on Route 6 in Carmel and that 
when she purchased the property, she inherited a dumpster from the business before 
her.  When the law was enacted that required dumpsters be enclosed, she eliminated 
the dumpster and replaced it with trashcans because of the proposed cost of $1,200.00 
to have an enclosure installed. She commented that she did not know of any resident 
who would support having to pay to have a structure built to enclose their trashcan.  
 
Supervisor Schmitt stated that single-family homeowners will not be asked to construct 
structures around their trashcans. 
 
Councilman Schneider clarified that if it is a multi-family home of three or more 
individual residences within a building, they would be subject to the legislation. 
 
Ms. Orta commented that she was not in favor of the proposed Local Law discussed at 
the prior Public Hearing in connection with regulating signs.  She commented on the 
need for greater communication between the Town Board and the business community.  
Ms. Orta asked that the Town Board consider that even an evergreen screen poses an 
additional financial cost to a business owner.   
 
Mr. Nichols asked for clarification. He pointed out that it was just stated that the 
legislation would apply to three-family residences or greater, however, earlier in the 
meeting it was stated that the proposed Local Law applies to everyone.   
 
Mr. Carnazza stated that the way the proposed Local Law was written originally, it 
applies to all. The Town Board is now discussing changing it. 
 
Supervisor Schmitt stated that the Public Hearing will remain open, no action will be 
taken to enact the legislation, and the proposed Local Law will be revisited to determine 
if any modifications should be made. 
 
Mr. Nichols commented that it did not make sense for the trash reciprocal screening to 
be over twice the height of the trash reciprocal. 
 
At 10:58 p.m. with no one else present wishing to be heard on the subject of the Public 
Hearing, Councilman Lupinacci offered a motion to keep the Public Hearing open.  The 
motion was seconded by Supervisor Schmitt.  All members of the Town Board present 
were in agreement. 
 
Mr. Folchetti indicated that if substantive changes are made to the proposed Local Law, 
a new notice and Public Hearing would be required. 
 
 
 



                                          PAGE 28 
 

                                                                                                  25 FEBRUARY 2015                                                                            
                                         TOWN BOARD MEETING 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
All agenda items having been addressed, on motion by Councilman Lupinacci, 
seconded by Councilman Schneider, with all Town Board members present in 
agreement, the meeting was adjourned at 10:58 p.m. to the scheduled Work Session. 

  
Respectfully submitted, 

 

Ann Spofford, Town Clerk  


	The Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was observed prior to the start of official business. A moment of silence was held to honor those serving in the United States Armed Forces.
	(Cont.)
	(Cont.)
	ENCUMBRANCES OF 2014 FUNDS FOR EXPENDITURES IN 2015 - AUTHORIZED
	Adjournment

